March 2013, Volume 21 No. 2

The Beekeeper

Our science challenge



The honey opportunityDifferential field diagnosis of exotics

BAYVAROL®

NZ's No 1 VARROA TREATMENT

Why?

- it's highly effective (up to over 99% efficacy)
- it's the easiest to use (rigid strips no curling)
- it's very safe to use (very important especially for staff)
- it has twice the contact area (4 strips per brood chamber)
- very kind to beeswax, propolis & comb honey
- very gentle on queen bees & nucs
- it can be used during the honey flow if required
- strips have a 5 year expiry date from date of manufacture

Resistance?

We are still selling over one million strips per year with over 95% of all customers happy with efficacy, however it's now more important than ever before to ensure that you use the correct dosage – being 4 strips per full depth single brood chamber - and to test their effectiveness after the treatment has been completed. Further, to our knowledge, not one hive has ever been lost due to Bayvarol resistance – which is a better record than any other treatment, with or without resistance!

We'd strongly recommend that you use Bayvarol[®] as one of your alternate treatments.

Bayvarol is New Zealand's most popular Varroa treatment, for <u>verv</u> good reason.

Current	prices	as	at 1	st	December	2012

20 to 80 strips 100 to 780 strips 800 to 8800 strips 9600 plus strips

\$2.09 + GST each \$1.96 + GST each \$1.59 + GST each \$1.54 + GST each

Packets contain 20 strips, cartons contain 800 strips. For orders of up to 100 strips please add \$7 incl. GST for freight. Orders of 100 strips or more are despatched freight free to anywhere in New Zealand. Payment is required prior to despatch by Visa, M/Card, Cheque or Electronic Banking.

For any enquiries or orders, please phone 03 358 7498 or email: ecroyd@beehealthy.co.nz

Bayvarol ® - Registered trademark of Bayer AG Germany - Approved under the Animal Products (Ancillary and Transitional Provisions) Act 1999



Ecroyd Beekeeping Supplies Ltd

Distributors, Exporters & Importers (since 1913) of Beekeeping Equipment



Distributors of Bee Healthy & Beeway Honey & Bee Products

P.O. Box 5056 Papanui, Christchurch 8542, New Zealand • 6A Sheffield Crescent, Burnside, Christchurch Phone: (03) 358-7498 • Fax: (03) 358-8789 • Email: ecroyd@beehealthy.co.nz *The New Zealand BeeKeeper* is the official journal of the National Beekeepers' Association of New Zealand (Inc.)

ISSN 0110-6325

Printed by South City Print, PO Box 2494, Dunedin 9013, New Zealand

NBA website: www.nba.org.nz

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER: Daniel Paul

PO Box 10792 Wellington 6143 Ph: 04 471 6254 Fax: 04 499 0876 Email: ceo@nba.org.nz

EXECUTIVE SECRETARY (including NBA Membership & Journal Subscriptions) Miriam Nicholson PO Box 10792 Wellington 6143 Ph: 04 471 6254 Fax: 04 499 0876 Email: secretary@nba.org.nz

EXECUTIVE COUNCIL:

Barry Foster (President/East Coast) Neil Stuckey (Northern/Vice President) Stephen Black (Waikato) Dennis Crowley (Bay of Plenty) Mary-Ann Lindsay (Southern North Island) Ricki Leahy (Upper South Island) Roger Bray (Central South Island) Russell Berry (Lower South Island)

EDITORIAL/PUBLICATION:

Nancy Fithian 8A Awa Road, Miramar Wellington 6022 Ph: 04 380 8801 Fax: 04 380 7197 Mobile: 027 238 2915 Email: editor@nba.org.nz

PUBLICATIONS COMMITTEE:

Frank Lindsay 26 Cunliffe Street Johnsonville Wellington 6037 Ph: 04 478 3367 Email: lindsays.apiaries@clear.net.nz

JOURNAL SUBSCRIPTIONS:

 TT issues — NZ \$140,00 GST inc - incl P&P Australia \$165.00+ NZ \$25.00 TT fees and incl P&P Rest of the World \$176.00 + NZ \$25.00 TT fees and incl P&P Subject to review if postage charges increase

DEADLINES FOR ADVERTISING AND ARTICLES:

Due on the 6th of the month prior to publication All articles/letters/photos to be with the Editor via fax, email or post to Nancy Fithian (see details above).

Please direct advertising inquiries to: South City Print Ltd, PO Box 2494, Dunedin 9044. Phone: 03 455 4486, Fax: 03 455 7286 Email: sales@southcityprint.co.nz

Articles published in *The New Zealand BeeKeeper* are subject to scrutiny by the National Beekeepers' Association management committee. The content of articles does not necessarily reflect the views of the association.

© The New Zealand BeeKeeper is copyright and may not be reproduced in whole or in part without the written permission of the Publisher, The National Beekeepers' Association of New Zealand.

CONTACTS TO THE NEW ZEALAND BEEKEEPING INDUSTRY:

Rex Baynes, AFB NPMS Manager PO Box 44282, Lower Hutt 5040 Email: rbaynes@ihug.co.nz Phone: 04 566 0773

American Foulbrood Management Strategy www.afb.org.nz

AsureQuality Limited Ph: 0508 00 11 22 www.asurequality.com

Exotic Disease and Pest Emergency Hotline 0800 80 99 66 www.biosecurity.govt.nz

Contents

- 4 Our science challenge
- 6 The honey opportunity
- 9 Differential field diagnosis of exotics
- 13 NBA's new Executive Secretary
- 13 Are you going to Apimondia?
- 14 Continuing 100 years of the NBA
- 17 From the colonies
- 21 Interview with Paul Badger
- 23 The last of the summer flows
- 25 Register now for Trees for Bees conference

Front cover: Barry Foster took this photo while walking at Beach Loop, located south of Gisborne. Young Nick's Head, Poverty Bay and the coastline are to the north. Note the manuka in the foreground.

Our science challenge

By Barry Foster, NBA President

I've gone on a bit over the past four editions of the journal about the need for more research into the challenges that our industry faces. This month's report will be no different.

Although it is easy just to focus on the issues of the day and our own businesses, there is a much bigger picture. Arguably, of all developed countries, New Zealand would be the most dependent on the health of its natural environment. This dependency affects not just our economy but also our quality of life and the way others see us with 'Brand New Zealand'. Within this bigger picture, our bees have a major part to play.

In December 2012, the Research Committee of the National Beekeepers' Association submitted its bid to the National Science Challenge. The title was 'Security of New Zealand's ability to export high quality agricultural products with special reference to the health of New Zealand honey bees, our major pollinators and only manuka honey gatherers.'

The bid was largely compiled by Research Committee member Dr John McLean, with help from the other members where possible at a very busy time of the year. In saying this, I gratefully acknowledge and thank John in his efforts in getting this bid together and submitting it on behalf of the NBA.

In November 2011, Prime Minister John Key announced the establishment of a new \$60 million science fund that would be directed towards "national science challenges", the funding of which would be spread over four years and encompassing up to 10 different projects. The aim of this initiative was to seek answers to questions of national significance to New Zealand by focusing effort and providing additional focus on key areas.¹

Mr Key said, "challenge funding would be proposed by the Minister of Science and Innovation in consultation with the relevant science community and the Prime Minister's chief science advisor, Sir Peter Gluckman". At that time, the Prime Minister gave three examples of the types of questions that could be suitable for funding under the science challenge. They were:

- how could New Zealand intensify its primary industries in an environmentally sustainable way—increasing production while at the same time protecting the environment, particularly water quality?
- how could New Zealand develop costeffective technologies for sustainable energy production?
- 3. how could New Zealand produce a new generation of high-value foods; for example, food or food-derived products that have demonstrated health benefits, designed for the Asian market?

Numbers one and three sound a lot like what the beekeeping industry does and is capable of.

"... the [NBA has] submitted its bid to the National Science Challenge ... to seek answers to questions of national significance ..."

On 7 February 2013, an 11-person panel was appointed and tasked with identifying the biggest science challenges facing New Zealand, chaired by the Prime Minister's Chief Science Advisor, Sir Peter Gluckman. Called the Peak Panel, it will recommend, by the end of February 2013, options for Cabinet to select up to 10 National Science Challenges for New Zealand. This panel will then consider possible challenges submitted by research providers, research users and the public, develop them further where necessary and select a number of challenge options.



Our science challenge covers four themes briefly described as:

- ensuring the genetic diversity of our bees with the development of VSH stock and disease resistance. This stock would be adaptable over a range of climatic zones to produce bees that are good pollinators and nectar gatherers
- developing an independent evaluation of the risk that new and existing systemic pesticides pose to our bees when incorporated into pollen and nectar
- conducting a disease survey of New Zealand honey bee populations. We do not know the level and frequency of other pathogens (excluding AFB) found in our hives
- meeting the needs for adequate honey bee nutrition. The current Trees for Bees project is focusing on protein analysis in pollen. Further analysis is needed on levels of lipids and amino acids to pick the best non-weedy candidates.

By the time you read this, we will know the top 10 science challenges selected. There are plenty of good reasons to support our challenge that stem from reports both here and overseas. The government's primary growth agenda² is about lifting exports from 30 percent of GDP to 40 percent of GDP, with much of that effort focused on intensification of agriculture through more irrigation. Having healthy pollinators is essential in achieving any goal like this one. Meanwhile, the topic of pollination security that the NBA submitted on in 2011 to the Local Government and Environment Select Committee languishes after it was dropped from its agenda last year.

One of the greatest spins of all is to presuppose that there is some illusionary 'sweet spot' in a balance between growth and environmental harm. It is a delusion, but if this challenge is accepted New Zealand may begin to address some of the harm from a pollination point of view.

Continued on page 6

Autumn treatments – it is critical to get these in as early as possible to protect late Summer brood.

Online order form now available at www.apivar.co.nz. We are also happy to take email or phone orders.



Want to know more about Apivar? Look at the FAQ's on the www.apivar.co.nz web site. They contain some really good in-depth information.

\$3.48 each plus G.S.T.
\$3.23 each plus G.S.T.
\$3.01 each plus G.S.T.
\$2.80 each plus G.S.T.
\$2.74 each plus G.S.T.
\$2.69 each plus G.S.T.

Dosage Rate: 2 Apivar strips per brood chamber.

Price includes delivery, except for Rural Delivery, which is \$4.44 plus G.S.T. for each 1000 strips or part thereof. Payment is required prior to delivery by cheque or electronic banking. Prices subject to change without notice.



New Zealand Beeswax Ltd

Postal: Private Bag 6001, GERALDINE 7956, New Zealand Factory: 44 Gladstone St South, ORARI, South Canterbury Phone: 64 3 693 9189; Fax: 64 3 693 9780 Email: info@apivar.co.nz; Web: www.apivar.co.nz

Apivar[®] is the product and the registered trademark of:

Veto-pharma S.A,

Véto-pharma

14, avenue du Quebec F-91945 Courtaboeuf Cedex France

BK236

BUSINESS

Continued from page 4

A tribute to Eva Wilson

I spent a day in Takaka on 8 February representing the NBA at the funeral of Eva Wilson, the 14-year-old daughter of Kerry Gentleman and Frazer Wilson, who died as a result of anaphylactic shock from a bee sting. It was a big funeral with approximately 600 people celebrating her life.

I was very impressed with the wonderfully supportive community that rallied around to help Kerry, Frazer and their elder daughter Tullia get through a great ordeal. Having said that, Kerry, Frazer and Tullia showed great courage and strength of character in actively participating in remembering Eva's life. It was a beautiful celebration of her life that was well lived but tragically cut short. Both Kerry and Frazer were very appreciative to see me there, as were other beekeepers that I met, many of whom are helping the Wilsons out in practical ways with their beekeeping while they go through a very difficult time.

The NBA has donated \$200 to the Nelson Marlborough Rescue Helicopter Trust in lieu of flowers.

Footnotes

¹ See http://www.msi.govt.nz/update-me/ major-projects/national-science-challenges/ ² See http://www.beehive.govt.nz/speech/ business-growth-agenda---building-naturalresources-launch



What to wear at field day, Ruakura, 1932. The original caption read: FIELD DAY DEMONSTRATION. Mr T. Winter shows how bad weather interrupted the honey flow. (This photo is from The New Zealand Smallholder.)

The honey opportunity

As part of the Food and Beverage Information Project, a report was released in May 2012 looking at investment opportunities in the New Zealand honey industry.

This information was collated by Coriolis, a strategic management consulting and market research firm. It is extremely important for our industry, not only to identify the strengths but to improve upon what are seen to be our weaknesses both nationally and globally. Following is an extract from the report's summary (page 7), and the SWOT analysis conducted by Coriolis (page 45).

New Zealand manuka honey is an attractive, high growth industry with solid fundamentals; it offers participants a defensible base platform that can be extended into a wide range of products.

Overview

New Zealand's honey exports are on a roll and growing rapidly. Exports have grown at a 30% compound rate for the past decade, reaching US\$70m in 2010. Exports are strong to Europe (in particular the UK and Germany) and Asia.

New Zealand's manuka honey is the most expensive in the world and receives a significant premium over other suppliers. The on-going international success of manuka honey is driving the growth of the total New Zealand honey industry.

In the past decade the NZ honey industry has transformed from a small sleepy sector focused on the production of honey for domestic consumption into a fast growing, innovative, science based, high value export focused sector, with firms more akin to pharmaceutical and biotech. For example, in 5 years Manuka Health has grown from nothing to an almost \$20m company with 50 employees. It aims to double turnover in four years with a range of wound dressings.

Drivers of growth

Active manuka honey has <u>scientifically</u> <u>proven</u> health giving properties which are driving global demand across a range of outlets, from pharmacies through to hospitals.

The activity in manuka honey is unique to NZ*, creating a highly defensible barrier to competition (and it is not economic to farm manuka trees**).

Manuka is the "perfect product"—sweet, natural, guilt-free, convenient, health giving and scientifically proven—wrapped in the clean imagery of New Zealand and packaged in a wide range of forms (from lozenges to shampoo to medicine).

Opportunities

Manuka is a scalable platform with the potential for a full range of product line extensions. Once developed, strong brands can be leveraged into food, beverages, nutraceuticals and the HBC (health & beauty care) space.

The recent aborted attempt by Suntory/ Cerebos to acquire NZ listed Comvita demonstrates the success of the NZ honey industry has not gone unnoticed globally.

Experience of other sectors suggests the industry is likely to be on the crux [cusp] of a number of waves of consolidation, leading to a small number of large players rather than a large number of small players. This consolidation will be driven by economies of scale and scope, increasing investment required in R&D and NPD⁺ and the need for in-market sales forces.

The real opportunity for investors in this point in the industry's life cycle is providing capital to the emerging winners to facilitate those winners driving scale through industry consolidation. Investments in the sector would have a wide range of available exit strategies in a 3-5 year time frame, including sale to a global nutraceutical/pharmaceutical company, sale to a competitor or listing.



Endnotes: * and some regions in Australia ; **only on steep marginal land often retired from farming; + NPD = New Product Development Source: Excerpt from Coriolis. (2012). *Investment opportunities in the New Zealand Honey industry*. Part of the Food & Beverage Information Project. May 2012 v1.01c. Reprinted with permission. For more information, please see www.foodandbeverage.govt.nz.



POLYSTYRENE MATING NUCS

Easy to use • Cost effective • Proven results 1-100 \$13.00 plus GST 100+ \$12.00 plus GST Phone Steve, Apiflora NZ Ltd 07 543 0984 027 4923 937

For Sale Nucleus and Single Hives

Full depth frames • In my equipment or yours
Commercial volumes available •Available Autumn or Spring

Contact nick@blueskybeekeeping.com

ITALIAN QUEEN BEES

Order now for Summer/Autumn 2013

Italian queens available from January to March 2013

Also taking orders for overwintered queens for delivery in September 2013

SOUTHERN SUN QUEEN BEES

Gary Milne

Southern Sun Holdings Ltd 8 Spring Street, Foxton

Phone 027 248 9419

Email: gary@southernsun.co.nz







All Honey varieties required

Steve Lyttle at 100% Pure New Zealand Honey in Timaru is waiting for your call:

Phone: 03 688 7150 Mobile: 027 499 5599

Email: steve@purenewzealandhoney.com Post: PO Box 2155, Washdyke, Timaru

TEOFTESTS FOR NEY PRODUCERS

TESTS OFFERED

Tutin Testing for Tutin in honey is now regulated under a standard produced by the NZFSA. Our Tutin testing uses the latest technology offering superior sensitivity for more accurate results.

- Methylglyoxal An indicator of the activity in Manuka honey
- Dihydroxyacetone (DHA) DHA has the potential to more accurately predict the future MGO content level in fresh honey
- Non-Peroxide Activity (NPA) NPA is an indicator of the activity in Manuka honey

Hydroxymethylfurfural

(HMF)

WE OFFER A RANGE OF TESTS FOR BEEKEEPERS AND DELIVER QUALITY RESULTS ON TIME, TO HELP YOU GET YOUR HONEY READY FOR THE MARKET. SO CALL US ON **07 858 2000** TO DISCUSS WHAT WE CAN DO FOR YOU.

- pDCB
 - Test wax, propolis or honey for pDCBs
- Flumethrin and Fluvalinate

I B

- Multiresidues & Heavy Metals
- Water testing for Bee Keepers

CALL US TODAY ON 07 858 2000 TO TAKE THE TEST For more info visit www.hill-laboratories.com

Differential field diagnosis of exotics

By Marco Gonzalez, Apiculture Officer, AsureQuality Limited, Lincoln. Email: marco.gonzalez@asurequality.com

The New Zealand honey bee population has an enviable disease status by world standards, despite having to manage varroa mites, American foulbrood (AFB), and a small number of other beekeeping pests and diseases.

There are many exotic honey bee pests and diseases that, by exclusion from New Zealand, afford the beekeeping industry significant production and marketing advantages.

Keeping our country free of exotic bee diseases relies on effective border control and frequent hive inspection to ensure that anything that does arrive is identified and responded to quickly. The Ministry for Primary Industries (MPI) undertakes a comprehensive surveillance survey annually in the autumn. However, the best chance of detection depends on all beekeepers inspecting their own hives frequently and being capable of identifying potential exotic diseases or pests.

Inspection for exotic pests or diseases needs to be incorporated into hive management on every visit to the apiary. Beekeepers need to be aware of the process for reporting suspected signs of infestation or infection of anything unusual or not known to be in New Zealand. Due to the large number of people, machinery, goods and food items entering New Zealand from overseas, the possibility of finding an exotic honey bee disease or pest anywhere in the country should not be ruled out. The purpose of this article is to describe clinical signs of exotic pests and diseases visible in and around beehives, and to supply some guidance on how to differentiate these diseases from endemic pests, diseases, disorders or syndromes. This is referred to as differential diagnostics.

The main exotic bee pests and diseases that we need to be able to recognise in the field in New Zealand can be classified into three main categories, as listed in Table 1 below.

Table 1. Main categories of exotic pests and diseases.

Category	Scientific Name	Common Name	
Undesirable bee species	Apis mellifera scutellata Apis mellifera capensis Apis cerana	Africanised honey bee Cape honey bee Asian bee	
Bee parasites and pests	Acarapis woodi Tropilaelaps spp. Aethina tumida (Murray) Vespa spp	Tracheal mite Asian mites Small hive beetle Asian hornets	
Bacterial diseases	Mellissococcus plutonius	European foulbrood	
Viral diseases	Aparavirus sp.	Israeli Acute Paralysis Virus	

Some signs which would lead us to suspect a potential exotic pest or disease can be apparent before we open the beehive. For instance, unsettled, aggressive bees that attack anyone that gets close to the apiary may be an indication of the presence of an exotic undesirable strain of bee such as Africanised bees (*Apis mellifera scutellata* and its hybrids. 'Africanised' refers to hybrids of pure African honey bees and European honey bees as found in the Americas.). Refer to Figure 1.

This must be balanced with the knowledge that there are a number of situations, other than hybridised with Africanised bees, which could make a colony of European bees display extreme aggression. Severe robbing, hybridized colonies with other sub-species, intermittent nectar flow, and geographic location of the apiary can all contribute to create aggressive bees. Sub-species examples include some crosses between *Apis mellifera ligustica* with either *Apis mellifera mellifera* or *Apis mellifera carnica*.

Table 2. Africanised bees' aggressive behaviour and other causes of aggressive behaviour in European honey bees.

Af be

EL

be

e type	Differential diagnosis		
ricanised ees	Are very defensive and can chase intruders for up to 1000 metres (one kilometre).		
	Most members of the colony abandon the hive to attack an intruder. After being disturbed, remain aggressive for more than 24 hours.		
iropean ies	During the robbing season, can behave more aggressively than usual. During intermittent nectar flows or in the middle of a brassica nectar flow, bees can show unusual aggressiveness		
	Some crosses of <i>Apis</i> <i>mellifera ligustica</i> (Italian Bees) with <i>Apis mellifera</i> <i>mellifera</i> (European Black Bees) or <i>Apis mellifera</i> <i>carnica</i> (Carniolans) may show unusually aggressive behaviour.		
	Bees left permanently in forested or bush areas tend to requeen themselves with a more aggressive type of bee, compared to bees left permanently in agricultural land. This aggressiveness seems to be an advantageous survival trait for such geographic locations.		

Also note that colour alone cannot be used to identify Africanised bees as they can have similar colours as European bees. However, they are always smaller in size than European bees.

A sample of bees must be sent to the laboratory for a definitive identification.



Figure 1. Africanised bees attacking Apiculture Officer Tony Roper (and the camera) in South Africa. Source: AsureQuality Limited.

At the apiary, before any beehives are opened, look for unusual symptoms at the entrance of the beehives.

For instance, a large number of bees crawling and dying at the entrance could be a sign of bee poisoning, viral infections such as acute and chronic bee paralysis virus, deformed wing virus, severe robbing, chilling or a heavy infestation with the exotic internal parasitic tracheal mite or the exotic external parasitic mite *Tropilaelaps spp.* Table 3 lists some clues to help differentiate potential causes of hive entrance mortality. A sample of older bees sent to the laboratory is required to confirm the presence of the microscopic tracheal mite.

If we see dead decapitated bees at the entrance and large wasp-like insects, we may be looking at Asian hornets *Vespa spp.* attacking the hives. Hornets kill guard bees before invading the colony and robbing all larvae. There are several species of hornets, the giant hornet *Vespa mandarina* being the most dangerous. This is about ten times larger than the two endemic wasps (*Vespula spp.*) in New Zealand.

A sample must be taken to a laboratory for a definite diagnosis of hornets to be made.

When opening a hive, remove the lid and place it upside down on the ground in front of the hive, as this will allow easy inspection of the floorboard later. Inspect the lid for any sign of adult small hive beetle (SHB), which will run away from light and hide in corners, Table 3. Large number of bees crawling and dying at the hive entrance: differential diagnosis. (Adapted from Taylor, B., 2008.)

Possible causes	Differential diagnosis
Tracheal mites	Dying crawling bees, unable to fly.
	'K' wings. This describes the position that the bee wings may adopt under severe tracheal mite infestation. Weak wing muscles, as a result of poor oxygen supply, due to heavy tracheal mite infestation are believed to be the cause of this symptom.
	Symptoms of heavy tracheal mite infestation are more commonly seen in early spring.
Spray poisoning	The bees appear sticky as they will often regurgitate stored nectar or honey.
	Sometimes bees will fight with each other at the entrance.
	Large piles of dead and dying bees in front of and inside the hive.
Tanalised timber poisoning	Can be determined by checking woodware history. It is not usually severe but can last a long time (i.e.; a slow dwindling rather than a catastrophic event).
Nectar poisoning	Flowering karaka within flying distance in October-November
Severe robbing	Bees fighting with each other. Other signs of robbing are evident at inspection, such as wax cappings at the entrance.
Bee paralysis virus (chronic and acute)	Shaking and crawling bees at the hive entrance and on the combs. Some have shiny dark bodies.
Deformed wing virus	Severe viral infections are usually associated with high levels of varroa mites.
Starvation	The most common symptoms are clusters of dead bees with their heads in empty cells, abdomens sticking out and no food reserves in the hive. Dead bees can be between combs and on the floorboard.
Chilling	A 'plume' of bees out the front of the hive can sometimes be seen. As the majority of these bees are returning from the field, bees may have full pollen baskets.
Asian mite (Tropilaelaps clareae)	Wingless adult bees may be seen crawling at the front of the hive along with dead and malformed larvae, pupae and adult bees, which have been cleaned out of the hive.



Figure 2. Aethina tumida dorsal, lateral and ventral view. Source: www.beetlelady.com

crevices or among debris in the bottom board. Figure 2 shows adult SHB. Remove the inner cover and inspect the top of the frames for beetles running off and down between the combs. Inspect the inner cover for any beetles and place to one side.

Remove the top super (if present) and place on the upturned lid. Remove the outside

frames from the bottom brood box and inspect them for both SHB adults and beetle larvae (do not shake the bees off). Then, smoke the bottom brood nest heavily and place it on the other brood box.

Inspect the floorboard for both adults and larvae of the SHB. Larvae of the endemic wax moth pest may also be found on the bottom board. The main differences between larvae of SHB and larvae of wax moth are listed in Table 4 below.

Now inspect each brood box. First, look at the bees on the frames. Do they look normal? If you see that they have a different colour and they are smaller than usual, it could be that the queen has been replaced, or it could be that an undesirable exotic bee strain such as Cape bee (*Apis mellifera capensis*) may have invaded your hive.

Cape bees are usually darker than Italian bees, but they could also be a lighter colour. They are very active on the comb and can be as aggressive as Africanised bees. More signs in terms of hive development and brood pattern could supply clues to support our suspicions about the presence of Cape bees.

Shake the bees off the frames and check the brood for unusual brood patterns or signs of sick or dead larvae. Signs of Cape bee invasion in the brood nest include spotty and abandoned brood, plus little foraging activity compared to the number of bees in the hive and dwindling colony strength. However, field identification is difficult and laboratory confirmation is required.

A spotty brood pattern could also indicate

Table 4. Main differences between small hive beetle larvae and wax moth larvae. (Source: Stedman, M., 2006.) a series of bee diseases or syndromes. Table 5 (next page) shows signs to differentiate between the different brood disorders and diseases.



Figure 3. EFB infected larvae exhibiting contorted position in cells and discolouration. Photograph by M. V. Smith.

European foulbrood (EFB) is a serious contagious bacterial disease that is exotic in New Zealand. Unfortunately, most of its symptoms are similar to the symptoms we see with parasitic mite syndrome (PMS) and halfmoon disorder (HMD). However, EFB appears mainly in early spring when the nurse bees' open brood ratio decreases as a consequence of the colony expanding quickly. In contrast, PMS is more prevalent in the autumn.

PMS may disappear if varroa mites are brought under control, while HMD can usually be eliminated by requeening.

Also look for unusual looking mites, as the exotic Asian mite *Tropilaelaps spp.* could

SHB larvae	Wax moth larvae		
Pair of prominent brownish dorsal spines present on each segment, including larger anterior and posterior pairs	No spines, but number of setae (hairs) on segments.		
Three pairs of anterior prolegs only; posterior end in contact with the substrate.	Eight pairs of prolegs: three pairs of anterior prolegs, four pairs of abdominal prolegs, and one pair of anal prolegs on the last segment.		
Walks with a motion not at all like caterpillars.	Walks with typical caterpillar-like concertina motion		
Less than 12 mm long	Up to 25 mm long depending on age, food source and species.		
Found throughout the hive in aggregations— often regardless of hive strength.	In active hives, usually only on the outer margins of the brood nest in stored pollen. In dead or weak hives the larvae can be found, often in aggregations, throughout the hive		
Will tunnel through cells, even through frames with fresh honey.	Will tunnel through cells, but do not tunnel through frames of fresh honey		
Free moving and never produces silken galleries as larvae but rather produces a slime on honey combs.	Almost always within silken galleries. Larvae will hang from a silken thread. No slime.		
Mature larvae exit the hive to pupate in soil.	Mature larvae pupate within the hive in white cocoons.		

arrive in New Zealand. This mite has evolved with *Apis dorsata* (the giant Asian bee), and has jumped species recently, infecting *Apis mellifera* in different regions of Asia.

The Asian mite has a life cycle similar to varroa but, unlike varroa, cannot feed on adult bees. This limits the time that the mites can survive on adult bees. *Tropilaelaps* is about one third the size of varroa and has also a different body shape, as shown in Figure 4.

Once the brood boxes have been inspected, smoke each removed box and reassemble the hive. Before replacing the lid, inspect it again for small hive beetles.



Figure 4. Varroa (left) and Tropilaelaps (right) dorsal view. (Source: Zach Huang, http://cyberbee.net)

If you have empty gear at the apiary and a swarm has come in, we need to consider the possibility of this swarm being an exotic bee species. The Asian bees (*Apis cerana*), Africanised bees and Cape bees will all be attracted to empty supers.

The Asian bee can colonise standard Langstroth hives but will modify the cell size to be smaller. The comb drawn by Asian bees has smaller sized cells than the European honey bee, and is very brittle and easily broken because the wax does not contain propolis.

Asian bee workers look similar to European bees, but are smaller and the rings on the abdomen appear in prominent stripes. A simple way to identify them is by looking at the entrance of the beehive. *Apis cerana* will fan at the entrance of the beehive facing outwards, in contrast to *Apis mellifera* that will face inwards.

A close look at their wings shows one of the keys to differentiate *Apis cerana* from *Apis mellifera*, as shown in Figure 5 [on page 13].

Table 5. Distinguishing features of EFB, endemic brood diseases and syndromes

Features	European foulbrood	American foulbrood	Halfmoon disorder	Parasitic mite syndrome	Sacbrood
Age of dead brood	Younger than AFB. Usually larvae die before pupation at the 'C' or pre-pupal stage.	Older than EFB > 3 days. Larvae usually die at pre-pupal or pupal stages after the cells are capped. Larvae never die at the 'C' stage.	Similar to EFB. Curled (younger) larvae, including capped curled larvae in advanced cases.	Similar to EFB, from the 'C' stage to the pre-pupal stage.	Larvae usually from 4 days old. Pre-pupal stage only. Cells often capped over.
Appearance of brood comb	Patchy brood pattern with larval cells not capped over. Sometimes sealed in advanced cases when there may be perforated, sunken cappings.	Pepper pot irregular cappings. Sealed brood with sunken cappings, darker in colour, irregularly perforated. Sometimes cappings completely removed.	Patchy brood pattern. Multiple eggs in many cells, eggs attached in chains joined end to end. In advanced cases, high percentage of drone brood in worker cells.	Pepper pot pattern with chewed cappings.	Sealed brood. Cappings perforated or may be completely removed, sometimes sunken.
Colour and shape of dead brood	Larvae change colour from pearly white of healthy larvae to dull white, yellow then yellowish brown. Body segmentation retained. The tracheae (air tubes) are very white against the yellow bodies. Larvae may be twisted up the walls of the cell (corkscrew) or lie in a halfmoon scale around the lip of the cell.	Off-white, then coffee- brown, then dark brown to black. Loss of body segmentation and structure.	Off-white, yellowing to dark brown. Body segmentation retained. Tracheae may be evident as lines in larvae.	White/yellow colour. Body segmentation retained.	Larvae change from white to yellow, coffee brown, grey, then black. Heads are usually darker than body. Body segmentation maintained.
Dead brood consistency	Recently dead larvae are watery to pasty in appearance and rarely show signs of ropiness. Old infections are usually creamy or rubbery and can 'rope' up to 20 mm, but not to the same extent as AFB. The ropiness is due to the presence of secondary bacteria <i>Paenibacillus alvei</i> . Larvae collapse as if melting and eventually dry to form a loosely attached brown scale.	Sticky like glue when fresh and often ropes out. Once it dries it forms a black scale and is difficult to remove from the cell wall.	Watery contents and can be removed from cell. Doesn't rope out very well.	Scales can be removed. Brood never ropes like AFB.	Plastic sac, skin remains intact with watery contents. Pre-pupae easily removed from cell. May rope a little but strand is not even coloured and is blotchy in appearance. Not elastic like AFB.
Odour of brood	Varies from odourless to sour or foul smell depending on the secondary invading bacteria present.	Can have foul smell (rotten, fishy smell).	Sour, urine-like.	No evident odour.	None to slightly sour.
Appearance of dead larvae and scales (dried larval/ pupal remains).	Larvae 'corkscrew' up the cell or are found lying across the mouth of the cell in an open 'C' or halfmoon shape. Capped brood can rope out (secondary bacteria). Scale dries out and is easily removed from cell.	Larvae slump down along the bottom 'V' of the cell. Often rope out. Tongue sticking up from front end of cell base if died in pupal stage. Larval scale shaped like bullet against cell floor. Scale dries out and is difficult to remove.	Larvae corkscrew up the cell or lie around the cell walls or the lip of the cell in a halfmoon shape similar to EFB. Easily removed from cell. Rubbery scale with no tongues present.	Larvae often slump along lower cell wall like AFB. Larvae can also spiral up the cell wall or coil in a 'C' shape at the cell opening. Doesn't rope out.	Can dry down to scale. Rarely ropes out. Easily removed in one piece from cell. No tongue present, but larval head may be curled upwards and resemble tongue.
Tips for identifying	Very contagious disease. Usually appears when there is a low nurse bee to larvae ratio in the spring. Larvae die before capping and often twisted up the cell walls or in a 'C' shape at the entrance.	Ropiness test and presence of pupal tongue, scales hard to remove.	Drone brood in worker cells, multiple eggs in cells, eggs stuck end to end and often to the cell walls. Some supersedure queen cells may be present. Symptoms disappear with requeening.	Varroa mite is present. Symptoms disappear after effective varroa treatment.	Disease can disappear by itself. Requeening with a resistant strain will help remove the disease.
Sample to send to lab for identification	Diseased larvae.	Diseased larvae, honey from infected hive.	Whole brood frame.	Diseased larvae.	Diseased larvae.



Figure 5. Hindwing differences between Apis mellifera and Apis cerana. (Source: Ken Walker, Museum Victoria.)

A sample of at least 10 bees is required to be tested in the lab to confirm a diagnosis of Asian bees.

To sum up, all beekeepers should treat any unusual signs in the apiary as suspicious and these should be reported through the 0800 809 966 MPI Hotline. An AsureQuality Apiculture Officer may be requested to investigate the report with the beekeeper and may get suspect samples sent to a laboratory to test for exotic bee pests and diseases, as appropriate.

Acknowledgement

This article was funded by the Ministry for Primary Industries through the Apiculture Surveillance Programme.

Further reading

Allen, P. (2007, February 22). Hornets hit France and could reach Britain. *The Telegraph*. Retrieved November 2012 from www. telegraph.co.uk

Goodwin, M. (2006). Elimination of American Foulbrood Disease without the use of drugs—A practical manual for beekeepers, Revised edition. Wellington: National Beekeepers' Association of New Zealand (Inc.)

М

٩.

Matheson, A. & Reid, M. (2011). Practical Beekeeping in New Zealand (4th ed.). Auckland: Exisle Publishing New Zealand.

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. (2003). *Diagnosis of common honey bee brood diseases and parasitic mite syndrome* [Brochure]. Wellington, New Zealand: Goodwin, R. M. and Taylor, M. A., The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Limited (out of print).

Ministry for Primary Industries. (2012). Honey bee exotic diseases and pests [pamphlet].

12

Morse, R. A., & Flottum, K. 1997. *Honey bee pests, predators, and diseases* (3rd ed.). Medina, Ohio: A. I. Root.

Roper, T. (2008). Giant Asian Hornets: A beekeeping pest from hell! *New Zealand Beekeeper*, 16(3),13–15.

Roper, T. (2008). Eastern honey bees: Are they the answer to varroa? *New Zealand Beekeeper*, 16(8), 15–17.

Stedman, M. (2006). Small Hive Beetle (SHB) *Aethina tumida* Murray (Coleoptera: Nitidulidae). (PIRSA Publication FC 03/06). Available online at: http://www.pir.sa.gov. au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0015/41262/ apiary_shb_fact_sheet_2006.pdf Agriculture and Forestry. 13p.

Wossler, T. C. (2002). Pheromone mimicry by *Apis mellifera capensis* social parasites leads to reproductive anarchy in host *Apis mellifera scutellata* colonies. *Apidologie*, *33*, 139–163.

NBA's new Executive Secretary

We would like to introduce Miriam Nicholson, the new Secretary for the NBA. She has a Bachelor of Commerce degree in Marketing and Management from Canterbury University.

Miriam was in Christchurch for the earthquakes and was on board as Sam Johnson's personal assistant for the Student Volunteer Army (SVA) during the crisis period. She has great organisational skills and comes with extensive experience in event management and customer service.

We are very pleased to have Miriam join the team.



Are you going to Apimondia?

Apimondia's 2013 International Apicultural Congress, a biennial event, takes place this year in Kyiv (Kiev), Ukraine, 29 September to 4 October.

According to the organisers, "This Congress is going to be the biggest global beekeeping event in the history of the Apimondia International Federation of Beekeepers' Associations". The Congress sees over 10,000 attendees and over 1,000 scientific papers presented.

Beekeeping is big business in the Ukraine: history records one thousand years of bee products trading.

If you are planning to go to the Congress, please contact Maureen Maxwell on maureen@wildforage.co.nz. It would be wonderful to have a New Zealand contingent there. The NBA is interested in your feedback from the Congress.

For Apimondia Congress registration information, go to http://nba.org.nz/news-events/ events/international-apicultural-congress. If you register before June 1 you will save up to 30%.

Continuing 100 years of the NBA

By Apiarius Antiquary

The official magazine, The New Zealand Beekeepers' Journal ceased publication in 1922 and the magazine became part of the NZ Fruit growers and Apiarist Magazine.

The years 1923–1933 were particularly volatile for the beekeepers, as gross fluctuations in honey crops of the times created instability within the market. The Honey Producers' Association (HPA) had been set up to stabilise the markets and an emphasis to export honey to England had been placed in jeopardy by the financial collapse of their English agents.



Cover of The New Zealand Beekeepers' Journal, September 1st, 1922. The original caption was: Display of Honey at the Office of the High Commissioner in London. The words at the bottom are: ISSUED MONTHLY FOR THE NATIONAL BEEKEEPERS' ASSOCIATION OF N.Z. The HPA would ultimately suffer a huge financial loss further down the track, but there was some resilience within the HPA. HPA representative Mr R. A. Spinley located a new agent in England, Messrs A. J. Mills & Co, who had branches in a number of cities in England.

Mr Spinley spent considerable time promoting honey in England, and a report by Fred Baines (as Editor) states:

The show window in the High Commissioner's offices in the Strand is devoted to an instructive honey display arranged for at the most propitious time. No one who passes down the crowded London thoroughfare can help but observe it.

The report also signifies that beekeepers were well ahead of the other agricultural producers in marketing their products. Fred Baines goes on to say:

Another thing that strikes me forcibly is that I have not read of one other body of producers in N.Z. that have had the courage to do a similar thing, and I feel pretty certain that if they did with the meat, butter, cheese, and other commodities, it would mean millions of pounds gain to this country.

There was sometimes a boom-andbust situation with honey marketing in those early times, and the words of F. Baines state the trends:

There was a time when the export market paid so well that the local trade was neglected by the Association, and those who were not in the Association reaped a big benefit. This policy was changed and a vigorous advertising campaign instituted, the immediate result being that the sales of Imperial Bee Honey went up splendidly and our success seemed assured.

I am exceedingly sorry now to state that the number of competitors

has steadily increased with the inevitable result- the sales of Imperial Bee being considerably lessened. The Association was quoting to merchants 24/- per doz. less usual discounts, but a large number of 2lb tins were being disposed of by outsiders at 22/-. To meet this the Association is reducing to meet competitors, when a third party comes along offering the same package at 20/-. Whilst these are being sold, another competitor is offering at 16/6 per doz. So we are now going strong in the wrong way. The immediate result of this competition is that years of hard work, thousands of pounds spent in advertising, organising etc, is to be swept away, and there is nothing any buyer has to his greater advantage than competitors in the same line; he can put one against the other until he gets the commodity at his own price, to the loss of both producers.



The New Zealand Honey Producer, Vol 1, No 1, 1929. Seated is Isaac Hopkins, Government Chief Apiarist and 'father' of beekeeping in NZ. At back left is Robert Gibb, Government Inspector, North Island; and at back right is William Bray, Government Inspector, South Island.

The affairs of the National Beekeepers' Association (NBA) were largely related to the marketing of honey during these years. Whilst the *NZ Fruit growers and Apiarist* magazine covered NBA affairs, W. B. Bray (Barrys Bay) decided to publish a magazine dedicated solely to beekeeping and called his publication *The New Zealand Honey* *Producer.* The first magazine was published in July 1929 in the interests of Better Beekeeping and Better Marketing and this became the motto of this publication. It also later became the motto of the NBA but it is unclear, at this stage, how this evolved.

More on beekeeping and relevant at this time of the year has been a report of 'honey poison' by A. Luke (Awakeri) who was a builder turned beekeeper and recounts his experiences with poison honey. First, he describes that six years previously he was demolishing a building in preparation to build a new residence when he came across a swarm that had established itself in the side of the building he was to demolish. He smoked the bees out and obtained some rather 'black-looking' honey.

I said "Honey for tea, boys!" as I took the dish to the cook: but the cook, an old resident here, told us yarns of honey poisoning, which appeared to me at that time very stretched, so when tea-time came no one wanted honey; but I said, "Here goes, I am going to risk it, and have some anyway," and as I lived through the night and no sign of poisoning, every one had honey for breakfast.

Since that time I have heard sufficient to believe that there is such a thing as honey poisoning with bush honey. The Bay of Plenty districts seem to be affected very badly at certain times with poison. I will relate a few of the many cases that have occurred within the last few years around my district.

A party of Maoris were plucking a field of maize close to Whakatane, when the owner of the field sulphured a box of bees, took the honey, gave some to the Maoris, and had some himself. In a short time they were all taken ill, and the doctor had to be sent for. The balance of this honey and comb was then thrown into the pig's barrel, and the next day three large sows were found dead.

I know of four different cases round here last season, and some of them were very serious. I asked the doctor what he thought of it, and he said he was quite sure that the patient he was attending was poisoned through eating bush honey.

It is very amusing to hear the different opinions as to why and how the honey is



OFFICIALS AND DELEGATES AT THE ANNUAL CONFERENCE OF THE NATIONAL BEEKEEPERS' ASSOCIATION OF NEW ZEALAND.

FRONT ROW (from her): Mosce, K. W. Sage, Y. H. Bertanks tolliter, "XX translitedistry", N Science (securities, J. A. Compacific (forecast of horizontation), P. A. Billary, (foreblash), C. N. Poles, University (A. Deber, University), Science (A. Serverta), Science (A. Serv

This photo was published in the 'The Apiarist' section of The New Zealand Smallholder, August 16, 1932.

poisoned. I remember seeing in a Bay of Plenty paper a few years ago an article that I think was written by a priest, in which his opinion was that the poisonous honey was gathered by the bees to kill off the drones!

A Maori once assured me that the bees along the coast gathered salt water to poison the honey to keep the pakeha and the Maoris away. Very few of the Maoris here will touch honey in any form. Last year I was putting a load of honey in the wharf shed to be shipped to Auckland, and there were some Maoris looking on anxiously. At last one of them says "What you got here, Ruka (Luke)?" I replied "Honey." "By golly, for the Germans, eh?" "No," said I, "for the British." "By golly!" says he, "you poison them all!"

Last season a gentleman in Whakatane gave me a dog. As he would accept no payment, I thought I would take him some section honey, so I picked out some nice fancy white sections, and took them to his house and said "I have here some of the nicest honey you have ever saw or tasted" and held up a good section for his inspection. "Well," he said, "it does look very nice, but really, Luke, I am very prejudiced against honey." "But," I said, "this is really good." "Well," he said, "I will call the wife; perhaps she will like it," but when she came in she shook her head, and said "Mr Luke, I would not risk eating that for £50." The gentleman of the house then told me he had seen eight Maoris as stiff as a post through eating honey.

We certainly know a lot more about the potential for honey to be contaminated with toxic honeydew from the tutu plant. But imagine the time when there was little knowledge of the causes, and the only way to know if honey was safe to consume was by the 'taste test'—if one survived, it was safe!

At the end of this decade, the marketing of honey was in disarray. Despite the efforts of a new 'Honey Control Board' being set up in 1925, the HPA went into voluntary liquidation in 1932 and a new company, NZ Honey Ltd, was formed. It was a producer cooperative and probably operated in a similar manner to the HPA.

In 1932, Mr P. A. Hillary (Sir Ed's father) from Tuakau was President, with C. A. Pope (Springburn) Vice President. The executive comprised G. L. Hight (Hororata), W. Watson (Geraldine), W. Nelson (Otorohanga), and H. R. Penny (Taranaki).

Sources

Quotations from *The New Beekeepers' Journal* published 1918–1922.

Sources of other material

The New Zealand Honey Producer, published 1929–1930

The New Zealand Smallholder, published 1928–1932





Please Contact Linda Conference Secretary Ph 03 308 4964 birdsnbees@xtra.co.nz Conference Updates – www.nba.org.nz



FROM THE COLONIES

Auckland Branch

Wow! What a hot, dry January we've had. And more to come.

Reports are that there has been a big crop of kanuka which, to a certain extent, was mixed with the pohutukawa flow in some areas, and there has been a reasonable crop of manuka.

By the end of January the drought was affecting the honey flow, but the rain we've recently had could reactivate it, especially as there seems to be plenty of pennyroyal and lotus major in evidence. With a bit more rain over the coming weeks there may be more honey to be had. Pollination in the region has been good, and kiwifruit growers are happy with that.

We were in the hills behind Thames last weekend, and couldn't find a single passion vine hopper on any of the tutu we looked at, but with the hot, dry weather, we wonder if it is going to be a tutin year. Are there going to be any hoppers hatching and making a nuisance of themselves? Be aware and do the right thing. Get your honey tested.

- Helen Sinnock

Waikato Branch

What can I say EXCEPT all the beekeepers I have seen are smiling! And the ones I haven't seen are way too busy to talk!

- Barb Cahalane

Bay of Plenty Branch

Grant Stanley from the Eastern Bay of Plenty has provided an interesting account of his season.

"Wow, what a season! It was the most unusual spring, running round every hive, everyday, checking for swarming cells that never happened. Cold, day after day. The hives that needed to supersede never did for weeks; too late, it seemed.

The rewarewa never flowered, due, I believe, to the heavy frosting suffered to the immature flowers in early August when the bud is 2 to 3 cm long. This was the case last season when a very heavy frost on 1 August killed all the punga leaf in the greater area, right to the coast. The spring produced little or no honey. The entire season was unusually late. One thing I am sure of is when there is a rough spring you can guarantee a great summer crop; such was the case this season.

Beekeepers boast of the great crops of honey they have gathered. The question we must ask, when lifting the lids of hives to find chocka supers under every lid, is, how much honey did we miss?

I often leave a hive or two at each apiary site with a box or two on to see how much honey I may have missed, and have been surprised sometimes at the potential missed. This season was one of those. I ran out of supers, harvested then chucked a sticky back on 90% of them and found them full again.

The few days they sat there without a box must have been a box missed, and the rest. How many tonnes have you got, and how many tonnes have you missed? There is no other creature that creates such an excess to requirement that compares, even a cow would normally have its excess gobbled up by a calf; the bee, is truly a gift to this world and man from God. I have come to an understanding that there will always be a time in the season for the bees to prosper; the keeper's gotta catch it.

Some hives produced 70–100kgs of honey, yet averaged out 39kgs per hive overall. A cracker still. And a wonder, at the magnificence of the beehive and its perfect picture, and its abundance. No hives stolen for a change either. No varroa seen yet, touch wood."

Reports of the honey crop from the Western Bay of Plenty have been a bit more variable. The very low rainfall in this area has had an impact with nectar sources drying off in early January. That said, I expect a big improvement on last year's poor yield.

- Greg Wagstaff

Poverty Bay Branch

The district has had a good honey crop this season. Clover continued on into January when things did finally dry up. Even squash crops were suffering from the dry conditions. Normally squash can be relied on to get a late flow, with five or six bees being seen in individual flowers at times.

Rain arriving in early February as I write this should freshen things up again.

Queen rearing has started again for autumn requeening.

Trees for Bees project

This project is aimed at improving the bee forage for bees on a demonstration farm. The very hot and dry conditions in January finished off a lot of the last surviving plants on the very bank we are trying to establish. A smaller, damper area is faring much better. We will replant this autumn but may need to look at more drought-tolerant plants.

- Paul Badger, Branch President

Hawke's Bay Branch

As I write this we have just had 10 mm of rain. That we can get excited over 10 mm shows just how dry the Bay has been getting. There have certainly been worse droughts in Hawke's Bay and many areas north of Napier are not too bad, but the more severely affected areas have been suffering from late spring. It is a bit soon to tell, but I would expect clover honey production to be average to above average, while all bush sources have been well below average.

As a branch we have nothing planned at the moment but we hope to run some more activities when things settle down a bit. If there is anything people want us to run, please let me know.

- John Berry, Branch President

Southern North Island Branch

We've had good reports on honey harvesting in our area. Some non-local beekeepers may have missed out on the manuka harvest as it stopped suddenly.

There have been several comments in the journal about being responsible beekeepers in transporting hives, etc. We had an example in Wanganui the other day.

A beekeeper from the Bay had come down to remove honey from hives. I got called out around 6 pm with a complaint about two trucks parked in the main street (Victoria Avenue). A lot of people walking around on the footpath were concerned about the bees flying everywhere around the trucks.

The beekeeper had wrapped the boxes well and had covers on the top, but parking *Continued on page 19*



Continued from page 17

overnight in the main street is not a good idea. The drivers were staying at a motel about 50 metres from their trucks. It would have been better to have left the trucks about one kilometre away where people were not walking around shopping or going to restaurants, but the beekeepers did not seem to be concerned. They did not know that there were also a couple of hobbyist hives not very far away, which added to the problem.

Unfortunately it is the local beekeepers who get the backlash from the public, police and local body authorities from this type of behaviour. There was no identification on the trucks or honey supers as to who they belonged to. Very poor PR.

- Neil Farrer, NBA Life Member

Canterbury Branch

This might be another year to forget, as we have had a season of frustration with respect to bee health, weather and honey production.

Chemical treatments for the control of varroa have been used for three and a half years, and I suspect this is now starting to have a negative impact on our queen mating, longevity, and drone health. The mating this past summer has been the worst I can recall; whilst some blame can be directed towards the inclement weather conditions we had to endure through October and November, I do not believe this to be the only contributing factor. We have had these weather conditions in past years, but not resulting in the severe mating problems and quick supersedure responses noticed this season.

Consequently honey production is down and could be below average for this region. Whilst some apiaries have provided two or three boxes of clover honey, there are just as many where half a box could be considered a good crop. However, this could always change for the better, as we always know that a crop cannot be fully evaluated until it is in the drum.

There has also been a suggestion that the clover root weevil is having a major impact in some regions of Canterbury. We know that the weevil is in Canterbury but not the particular regions or population levels; we also lack knowledge of the likely impact on honey production. Attend Conference 2013 for an AgResearch presentation on clover root weevil.

Weather conditions for December and January had a negative impact on honey production, with the end of year being cloudy and cool and January providing us with record-breaking rainfalls. February has finally provided us with heat, but a little late for some clover crops.

Farmers I have spoken to are pleased with the pollination set of the various radish and brassica crops we supply hives to, so that is a positive sign. It's too early to comment on carrot pollination, as this is still under way.

An item of interest perhaps for Canterbury beekeepers is the forthcoming South Island Agriculture Field Days on 20–22 March. More info at www.siafd.co.nz

- Geoff Bongard

Southland Branch

Until late January Southland's weather was not conducive to a good clover flow. It did improve in the final week, so the season ended up being that of two short intense bursts. As Frank Lindsay mentioned in his January 'About the Apiary' column, it is amazing how much a strong hive can gather when conditions are good.

We still hope to end up with an average crop if the weather allows some late catsear nectar to flow. Southern beekeepers also targeted the few small patches of manuka in Southland this season and have been rewarded by an incredibly long and profuse flowering.

- John Stevenson, Branch Secretary

From the Chatham Islands

I'm writing this on 5 February and thank goodness it is raining steadily. For the last month or so we have had hot, dry and still queen-mating weather conditions on Chatham Island. As a result, the bees have been collecting copious amounts of nectar from clover, pohutukawa, dandelion and other sources.

For island beekeepers this year honey production volume has increased threefold,

and the amount of pollen coming in to the hives is up as well.

We have received lots of positive comments and feedback from both locals and visitors regarding the amount of clover currently flowering. Of course it's a non-DCD approach to a clover nitrogen fix. We say it is the bees that have made this difference. The island is smiling.

We think the current situation reflects the impact on pasture of increasing hive numbers during the last five years, combined with the unprecedented weather conditions, due perhaps to changing global weather patterns. This, in turn, may signal longer honey retrieval periods for the island in future. That would be good.

We have heard of a couple of swarms but generally island beekeepers are working their hives well. We also have a couple of new beekeepers taking up the brush and hive tool and taking on the many other challenges as well; e.g., father and son dashing across a paddock chasing a swarm!

Last year we bought quite a few packets of 'wildflower' seeds and have distributed them to local 'bee-support' people. As a consequence we have seen some magnificent displays of flowers with bees all over them. The gorse is just starting to flower and we are collecting lots of pollen to store for queen rearing at the end of this year.

I wonder if there are some suggestions out there about underplanting vast gorse patches so that over time, the bees will get nectar and pollen. I have suggested manuka seeds could be spread under the gorse. Manuka does grow well here but we do not have large stands of manuka and would like to source a 'free-ish' supply of seeds. The lower hill seed would be good. We look forward to your comments.

Our queen rearing and mating is going very well and so island beekeepers are enjoying vigorous queens and hives. Our managed bees are mainly Italian and Carniolan. The British black bee still exists in feral colonies. In the interest of maintaining diversity, we keep hybrids of all those strains as well. Basically the bees are strong, vigorous and yet calm and easily manipulated.

- Mana Cracknell and Michele Andersen Email matahu@xtra.co.nz



Now Buying Manuka, Pohutukawa, Tawari, Kamahi, Clover, Light Pasture and Propolis.

Manuka Health New Zealand Ltd is experiencing unprecedented growth and our requirements have increased. Support your New Zealand Packers!

> Please contact Richard Hopkins and Keith Rodie Manuka Health New Zealand Limited 249 Bruce Berquist Drive, Te Awamutu Phone: (07) 870 6555, Fax: (07) 870 6556 Email: richard@manukahealth.co.nz, Mob: 0274 504 334, Email: keith@manukahealth.co.nz, Mob: 021 994 516. "Many Thanks to all our current suppliers for their support during 2012"

NBA MEMBER PROFILE

Interview with Paul Badger

Paul Badger is the president of the Poverty Bay Branch of the NBA.

The Secretariat interviewed him about his role and experience in the industry.

How long have you been a beekeeper?

Twenty-five years as a hobbyist; 10 years as a commercial beekeeper.

How did you get into beekeeping?

When my daughter started high school she wanted to get a beehive, so we decided to get one each and learned beekeeping together. It is not always easy for a father to share a common interest with his daughter—this was a thing we did together.

I had also had some exposure to beekeeping doing AFB inspection work while I was working for the government.

What do you enjoy about beekeeping?

Many things but the main ones are working outside, working for myself, producing crops of honey, keeping my bees healthy and producing my own queen bees.

Tell me about your current business.

I produce manuka, citrus and multifloral honeys and do some pollination. Up until now it has been a one-man business, but this season I have employed a worker for one to two days most weeks. I also sell a few queen cells and do a little beekeeping consultancy.

Another thing I get involved with is running various beekeeping courses such as the AFB Disease Recognition course and introduction to beekeeping courses.

What made you decide to become Poverty Bay Branch president?

We have a very small branch and I felt I had something to offer.



Tell me about your priorities as branch president.

We do not hold regular meetings but get together for special issues such as organising our annual AFB diseaseathon, a remits meeting and other meetings as the need arises.

How can a beekeeper contact you if they are interested in a course?

For an AFB course, all registered beekeepers that have not passed the course get an invitation letter.

I am easy to contact, being the only Badger in the Gisborne phone book.

What courses do you have coming up?

- AFB Disease Recognition Course September/October 2013 (date not yet set)
- No general beekeeping courses planned at present.
- The next AFB Diseaseathon will be held September/October 2013 (it is held in spring each year).

What do you think your branch does well?

Keep members informed on important issues.

What do you think the Poverty Bay Branch could improve on?

We need to attract new members and should start to hold a few field days. There is currently a lot of interest in forming a hobbyist bee club in Gisborne and the local branch needs to encourage and foster this.

What important issues are you currently informing your branch members about?

Not much at present but the conference Notices of Motion (NOM) will probably be next unless an urgent issue arises.

What do you believe to be positive about the beekeeping industry?

There are a lot of positive, go-ahead beekeepers and marketers in our industry. There is a lot of innovation and research going on. The whole industry is on the rebound after taking a dive when varroa first arrived in New Zealand. It is great to be part of.

What do you believe to be negative about the beekeeping industry?

Division is the biggest negative I see in the industry. I would love to see one united organisation representing beekeepers, marketers and suppliers. This would be a →

larger organisation with several speciality groups as members. I believe more beekeepers would voluntarily join an organisation like this. It would give us a stronger voice with government, and with a wider funding base we could achieve so much more.

What would you like to see improved in the beekeeping industry?

A cost-effective, safe treatment for varroa, and varroa-tolerant bees being made readily available to the industry.

What do you enjoy doing in your spare time/what are your hobbies?

- Fly fishing for trout on a back country river, with flies I have tied myself.
- Putting a pack on my back and going tramping off the beaten paths for a few days.
- Camping at the beach with my family and grandkids over the summer break.
- One of my stranger activities is making and sleeping in igloos during winter.
- A recent highlight was a week's fly fishing for bonefish in the Cook Islands.

What is your number one tip for beginner beekeepers?

Start off with two hives: if one dies out the other can be split to restock it. Keep hive numbers low for the first few seasons until the beginner has learnt how to manage them and to see if beekeeping is for them.

And for the more experienced?

If the decision is made to increase hive numbers, go to 25 to 30 hives so that honey can be extracted commercially. Honey can then be easily sold by the 200L drum. Between 10 and 25 hives is no man's land: too much honey for most to handle privately and not enough to sell commercially.

BETTER PRICES

Beekeepers generally think that the price of their produce does not give an adequate return for the labour involved. The progress of their business of production is hampered by a want of capital, which can only be obtained by the sale of their product. The urgent question of the present is how can better returns be secured.

All honey producing countries are faced with the same difficulty and are adopting means suited to their conditions to improve matters. Australia has adopted organised marketing under their Primary Producers Organisation and Marketing Act with the result that their producers are now getting much more than ours for their honey, whereas formerly their returns were at least 1d. per Ib. less than ours. Under their Act if two-thirds of producers vote to have their product brought under the Act, then all that particular product is handled by a Marketing Board.

We have no legislation that will enable us to do this, but we can by voluntary agreement, organise our selling in the same way and get the same results. If beekeepers will sign up the local marketing agreement then they will be able to sell their honey, not give it away for any price that is offered.

The Honey Production Industry has two pressing requirements-Stable prices and bigger Sales. This is the objective of the Marketing proposals.

A strong publicity campaign to increase the use of honey is provided for out of the increased profits. An expenditure in propaganda of one halfpenny per lb. on the honey sold in the Dominion would probably double the quantity sold in a year or two. Improved prices would provide this amount and this desirable result would be obtained at no cost to the producer.

The honey industry has not gone back. Our Export is returning us an even price. The loss is on the local market due to competitive selling. It rests with beekeepers themselves to improve the position.

If you wish further details regarding the Marketing proposals, send inquiries to the Secretary of the National Beekeepers' Association, or to The Managing Director, N.Z. Co-op Honey Producers' Association, Box 1293, Auckland.

Contracts supplied by Secretaries of all branches of the National Beekeepers' Association.

Seventy-five per cent. of production must be signed up before December 31. Failing this all agreements signed lapse. About fifty of the 75 per cent. have already signed. If you have not already done so, send in your signed agreement. The sooner all signatures are obtained, the sooner improvements can be started.

N.Z. CO-OPERATIVE HONEY PRODUCERS' ASSOCIATION, LIMITED

This advertisement appeared in the Nov. 10, 1929 edition of The New Zealand Honey Producer.

Nelson Branch AFB Recognition and Competency Course and Test

Date: Time: Location: Proctor: Test & course fee: Saturday, 6 April 2013 10 am to 2 pm. Bring lunch (tea and coffee provided) NMIT Richmond Campus, Queen Street, Richmond Nigel Costley. Phone 03 548 3101 or email costleymarr@xtra.co.nz \$50 Course limited to 20 applicants. Friday, 22 March 2013.

Registration Deadline:

ABOUT THE APIARY

The last of the summer flows

By Frank Lindsay, NBA Life Member

It's early February as I write this. The bees are out gathering the last of the nectar flows, which are mostly minor now.

In the rural areas of our region (Wellington), you can see the odd flowering scarlet gum (*Eucalyptus cinerea*), lotus major and pennyroyal in the damp areas and thistle on some farms. Along the railway line and on roadside banks, fennel is making quite a show, the honey being yellow and quite strong.

After the recent rains, catsear and clover are setting up to flower again, but whether they will produce nectar depends upon the ground temperature. The urban areas still have an assortment of flowers bees can visit.

Talking to other beekeepers, the honey crop is about average. Some of my hives have done well: the bees have stored four three-quarter-depth supers of bush honey for me in addition to ample winter stores, which have forced the brood down into the bottom super.

We recently had an overseas beekeeper visit us and he wanted to see manuka (the plant and the honey in the hives). The shrubs are easy to spot, but the honey was rather difficult to find. Most of the hives I'd put on to the manuka still had two supers of empty frames, and the bee numbers had dropped by a third. What a disappointment. The bush had just started to flower when I moved them in but that wet, windy spell after Christmas must have stopped either the flow or the bees from visiting the flowers. A check of quite a few bushes in different areas showed no seed set and plenty of growth. It's the third year in a row the bees haven't collected any manuka-bugger.

A little further up the line, a farmer told me it's been one of their best seasons for a long time. They received sufficient rain to make three cuts of hay and clover is everywhere. This has affected the hives, stimulating the queens into laying. Some have converted their winter stores in three supers of brood, with the odd hive producing queen cells. At first I thought they were simply supersedure cells, but the queens are laying well with beautiful brood patterns and the cells are of different ages. I have had to make splits with them in the hope that reduced bee numbers will stop them from swarming.

Controlling robbing

In the bush areas the season is basically all over and the bees are in 'robbing mode'. The bees start probing the defences of their neighbouring hives and those within flying distance. Any hive that is queenless or has something wrong with it will be targeted. Initially the bees defend their hive but they are overwhelmed when bees from other hives join in the robbing. This provokes more fighting, and soon anything that moves within a short distance of the robbing hive is attacked.

Generally the best thing a commercial beekeeper can do is remove the hive and leave an empty super in its place. The robbing bees quickly realise there isn't any honey to rob and give up.

A hobby beekeeper may not be able to move the hive, but hobbyists have an advantage. Bees will not rob in the rain, so turn on the sprinkler and close down the entrance to the width of a couple of bees.

At the same time, order a new queen but don't release her too soon. Leave her in the hive for three days without releasing the tab. Open the hive in the evening, when most of the flight activity has ceased, and look at the bees on the queen cage. If they are feeding the queen and otherwise not taking any notice of her, you can release the tab and let her emerge into the hive. Any aggressive action by any bee (e.g., grabbing or trying to sting the queen) means either there could be another queen in the hive, or just that she is not yet accepted, so leave her in the cage for another three days and check again. Sometimes it can take up to a week before she's accepted.



Autumn preparations

Autumn is not far away. Already the willow leaves are starting to change colour, daylight hours are shortening and dew has starting to appear each night on the vehicles. Our solar water heater is no longer producing temperatures in the 70°C range.

Close down the hive entrances, block any holes or wide cracks between supers and check how your mite treatments are going. Fork out some pink-eyed drone brood and look for mites. Try to fork out 100 cells and work out the percentage of 'dark' mites you find. Just lately, another beekeeper reported that natural mite fall was low through the bottom board, yet there were lots of mites in the drone brood. Don't be lulled into a false sense of security by relying on mite fall alone. Use sugar shakes or an alcohol wash. These methods are in the manual Control of Varroa. [Editor's note: this book is available for ordering from the NBA website. It is currently out of stock, but is being revised.]

"Never make any assumptions about mites ..."

In some of my hives I'm seeing the odd bee with shrivelled wings but I'm not getting a high mite fall, even though mite numbers are fairly low. I suspect deformed wing virus is around. Viruses take a lot longer to disappear after the mite problems are under control. And then I came across a hive that had PMS, which was much earlier than usual. Did my formic acid treatment fail, or have they picked up the mites from somewhere else? Never make any assumptions about mites as they can quickly destroy a hive.

Continued on page 25

SEATON VALLEY QUEEN BEES

Order Now Don't be disappointed

S.V.Q.B. Matt Davidson SEATON VALLEY NELSON

Mobile 0274 323 634

BEE HEALTH – NUTRITION



Use it in Spring Use it to build strong Nucs Use it for Hives going into Pollination

Available in 20kg Bags, or 300 gram Patties

Contact

Apiary Services Ltd – Neil Farrer 7 Nixon St, Wanganui Phone 0274 579 634

South Island Beekeepers Contact Ecroyd Beekeeping Supplies



BK52

Nationwide coverage for:

Bulk White & Raw Sugar in 25kg and 1MT bags

North Island coverage for:

Liquid Sugar in 1000ltr pelicans and tanker loads

Msugar Ltd

www.msugar.co.nz Ph 09 573 1566

Continued from page 23

Maintenance work

Most beekeepers have been hard at it extracting their honey but I have been mucking around doing a little maintenance on the truck. Cow muck is very acidic and quickly eats away at any unprotected metal. My last ute started coming away under the radiator and this truck was starting to go in the same place, so I've blackguarded it to hold the rust and I'll give it a coat of paint during the next fine weekend.

The other major maintenance job was taking out the radiator to clear out the grass seed. My Nissan Atlas 150 has a ground clearance of seven inches with a scoop underneath to direct the air up on to the radiator. Off-road this works very well as a seed heater, resulting in a blocked radiator and an overheated engine. My truck has been overheating for some time so before it had to do some real work carting in honey supers, I felt it should get its annual overhaul.

At the same time we replaced the thermostat (which, incidentally, was the wrong one and partly caused the overheating problem) and the water pump. If you are going to the effort of removing the radiator (removing the driver's seat and cab floor above the motor), you might as well do everything else while it's out.

I played around forcing out the grass seed with an air hose for half a day, while a mechanic friend did the real work with the water pump. My vehicle now doesn't overheat under load, but it's not going to last very long like this. A kilometre of travelling over farm tracks coated the radiator with seeds again. I carefully vacuumed them off but you can't do that every day. The solution came from a fellow beekeeper, who had a small roll of stainless-steel flyscreen he was planning to use to filter cappings. I loaned him a strainer that fitted on a 20-litre pail, and he donated the mesh which fits perfectly over the radiator. I'll now put the mesh in position when I go off-road and hopefully this will save me removing the radiator again next year.

My most recent job was making up threeframe nucs to introduce 10-day-old queen cells into. I plan to winter over a number of nucs to replace any hives that go queenless during winter. Most will be wintered as five-frame nucs, with a small patch of brood in two frames and the rest will be honey frames. I'll also put aside an extra couple of frames of honey to replace any empty ones in August to give the bees a boost.

Speaking of boosting, I used bee-boost strips this last spring in a few nucs, and what a difference it made. These hives started as four-frame nucs in the spring and produced another box of bees going into the honey flow.

Top-bar hives

Top-bar hives take quite a bit of work to get them through winter. Hives need a minimum of 10 frames with honey; i.e., the brood should be in the bottom of the frame with honey over the top. If your hive is not up to this standard, start feeding it internally with sugar syrup, and don't spill any outside the hive as this will only encourage robber bees. Bees naturally migrate up during the winter. With a top-bar hive they have to go sideways. If they don't have honey over the top of the cluster, they could starve. You have enjoyed your bees through the summer; now prepare them for winter. Too many of these hives die out in winter through neglect. They are not like a Langstroth hive that generally takes care of itself. You have to make sure the cluster is always in touch with the honey stores.

Things to do this month

Remove all comb honey frames. Remove and extract surplus honey—those frames that are not fully capped should be shaken to make sure the honey is dry otherwise leave it for the bees. *Don't forget to do an AFB check before removing any honey*. If bees are robbing, mark the cover of the supers and stack the supers on your vehicle, then check the hives for disease. Return supers to the hive and burn those that are diseased.

Requeen hives. Now is the best time to get queens mated while it's still warm and there are plenty of mature drones in the hives. Queen producers should also have mated queens on hand if required.

In some areas it's time to winter down hives. Keep an eye out for wasps and close entrances down so the bees are better able to defend the hives against them and mice getting into your hives.

Combine any small non-producing hives or make nucs out of them, so that you have spring queens on hand when you want them.

Make sure your mite treatments are working. Keep an eye out for those hives that only have a few mites in them. Produce queens from these but check the hive thoroughly beforehand. I thought I'd found a hive that only had a few mites due to a hygienic queen and brood, only to find a strip in between the bottom frames of the super.

Register now for Trees for Bees conference

The first annual Trees for Bees Conference will be held 26–27 April 2013 at Eastwoodhill Arboretum, Gisborne. This conference has a core focus on Trees for Bees research currently being conducted at the arboretum near Gisborne.

Dr. Linda Newstrom-Lloyd of Landcare Research will present preliminary results of her research into trees and shrubs which provide a high quality pollen source for bees. From the diversity of plants at the arboretum, she has identified many that have the potential to increase pollen supply during spring and autumn shortages. Dr. Newstrom-Lloyd will be supported by a panel of speakers from the bee industry (including the NBA), farm forestry sector, NZ Nursery Association and Landcare Research. Farm profitability is dependent on the health of our bees, both native and introduced. This conference presents an opportunity to show how all sectors of the community can improve bee health in a collaborative way. Early registration is essential as space is limited.

For further information and registration forms: Visit www.eastwoodhill.org.nz Call 06 863 9003 or Email enquiries@eastwoodhill.org.nz

Conference flyers and registration forms also are available on the NBA website www.nba.org.nz



NATIONAL BEEKEEPERS' ASSN OF NZ (Inc.) EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

East Coast Ward

Barry Foster (President) Tawari Apiaries Ltd 695 Aberdeen Road Gisborne 4041 Ph: 06 867 4591 Fax: 06 867 4508 Mobile: 027 449 7131 Email: bjfoster@xtra.co.nz

Waikato Ward

Stephen Black Bees-R-Us 685 Uruti Road, RD48 Urenui 4378, Taranaki Ph: 06 752 6860 Email: bees@beesrus.co.nz

Northern Ward

Neil Stuckey (Vice President) PO Box 303251 North Harbour Auckland 0751 Ph: 09 415 5931 (w) Email: neil@whoney.co.nz

Bay of Plenty Ward

Dennis Crowley PO Box 16156, Bethlehem Tauranga 3147 Ph: 07 579 2554 Email: crowleys@slingshot.co.nz

Southern North Island Ward

Mary-Ann Lindsay 26 Cunliffe Street Johnsonville Wellington 6037 Ph: 04 478 3367 Email: lindsays.apiaries@clear.net.nz

Upper South Island Ward

Ricki Leahy 151 Mangles Valley Road Murchison Ph/Fax: 03 523 9354 Email: beechdew@farmside.co.nz

Central South Island Ward

Roger Bray Braesby Farm, RD 1, Ashburton 7771 Ph/Fax: 03 308 4964 Email: birdsnbees@xtra.co.nz

Lower South Island Ward

Russell Berry 2488 State Highway 5, RD 3 Rotorua Ph: 07 366 6111 Mobile: 021 741 690 Ernail: russell@arataki-honey-rotorua.co.nz

NBA Branches: First named is President/Chairperson. The second named is Secretary.

NORTHLAND

Interested parties wishing to start this branch up again, please contact Neil Stuckey 09 415 5931 (wk) or neil@whoney.co.nz

AUCKLAND

Graham Cammell 20 Thorps Quarry Road Clevedon, RD 2 Papakura 2582 Ph: 09 275 6457 Email: graham@cammellshoney.co.nz

Bob Russell 101 Kern Rd RD 3, Drury 2579 Home Ph: 09 294 8656 Work Mobile: 027 284 8951 Email: bob.russell@xtra.co.nz

WAIKATO

Cameron Martin Haumea Road RD 1, Galatea 3079 Ph: 07 366 4804 Fax: 07 366 4804 Email: busy-bee@xtra.co.nz

Jane Lorimer Hillcrest Apiaries 'Kahurangi-o-Papa' RD 3, Hamilton 3283 Ph: 07 856 9625 Fax: 07 856 9241 Mobile: 027 294 6559 Email: hunnybee_wave@ihug.co.nz

BAY OF PLENTY

Dennis Crowley PO Box 16156, Bethlehem Tauranga 3147 Ph: 07 579 2554 Email: crowleys@slingshot.co.nz

Barbara Pimm 448 Woodlands Road RD 2, Opotiki 3198 Ph: 07 315 7650 Email:hikuhoney@xtra.co.nz

POVERTY BAY

Paul Badger 19A Pine St Gisborne 4010 Ph: 06 868 4785 Email p-mbadger@xtra.co.nz

Tim McAneney 11 Oak St Gisborne 4010 Ph 06 868 9446 Email: tim@mcaneney.gen.nz

HAWKE'S BAY

John Berry 46 Arataki Rd Havelock North 4130 Ph: 06 877 6205 Email: jrberry@ihug.co.nz

Deanna Corbett Home Ph: 06 876 8852 Email: djcorbett@xtra.co.nz

SOUTHERN NORTH ISLAND

Allan Richards 14 Bastia Avenue Wanganui Ph: 06 343 5039 Email: allan.serena@xtra.co.nz

Frank Lindsay 26 Cunliffe Street Johnsonville Wellington 6037 Ph: 04 478 3367 Email: lindsays.apiaries@clear.net.nz

NELSON

Frazer Wilson Ward-Holmes Road RD2, Takaka Ph: 03 525 7571 Fax: 03 525 7569 Email: frazer.kerry@farmside.co.nz

Kerry Gentleman Ward-Holmes Rd RD2, Takaka Ph: 03 525 7571 Fax: 03 525 7569 Email: frazer.kerry@farmside.co.nz

CANTERBURY

Brian Lancaster 1133 Coaltrack Road RD 1 Christchurch 7671 Ph: 03 318 7989 Email: be.lancaster@xtra.co.nz

Linda Bray Braesby Farm, RD 1, Ashburton 7771 Ph/Fax: 03 308 4964 Email: birdsnbees@xtra.co.nz

OTAGO

Frans Laas Wildlife Solutions Ltd 102 Gladstone Road Mosgiel 9007 Ph: 03 489 4597 Email: f-laas@xtra.co.nz

Peter Sales "Te Ora" RD 1, Port Chalmers Dunedin 9081 Ph: 03 472 7220 Email: foxglove@paradise.net.nz

SOUTHLAND

Doug Lomax 15 William Stephen Rd Te Anau Ph: 03 249 9099 Fax: 03 249 9068 Mobile: 027 245 3384 Email: dougandbarbara@xtra.co.nz

John Stevenson Southern Lakes Honey PO Box 163, Te Anau 9640 Ph: 03 249 7954 Email: sl.honey@gmail.com

NBA LIBRARIANS

Roger and Linda Bray Braesby Farm, RD 1, Ashburton 7771 Ph/Fax: 03 308 4964 Email: birdsnbees@xtra.co.nz

APIMONDIA OCEANIA COMMISSION Maureen Maxwell, President Ph: 09 411 7065 Mobile: 021 956 349 Email: maureen@wildforage.co.nz

If your details have changed, please email editor@nba.org.nz and secretary@nba.org.nz so that we can update your details in the journal and on the NBA website www.nba.org.nz.



360ml Round Pot



2kg Hex Jar



500gm Round Jar



1kg Hex Jar



340gm Round Jar (coming soon)



250gm Round Jar



500gm Hex Jar



250gm Hex Jar



2kg Square Jar



1kg Square Jar



500gm Square Jar



250gm Square Jar

NEW ZEALAND'S MOST EXTENSIVE RANGE OF HONEY PACKAGING

- Pharmapac's range of export quality packaging for honey has now expanded to contain square, hex & round jars. Sizes range from 250gm - 2kg.
- Pharmapac is a New Zealand owned company, with more than 30 years in the business of designing, manufacturing and producing plastic packaging solutions for not only local, but an ever growing list of international clients.

All of our products are manufactured in our ISO9001-2008 accredited facility in Auckland, New Zealand.

No supply contracts are required.

Pharmapac follows well defined parameters of quality, conforming to various national and international standards. As these standards change, we work with our suppliers to continue to meet these requirements.

For more information or product samples please contact us at:

Pharmapac Limited 88 Wairau Road Glenfield Auckland 0627

+ 64 9 444 9631 sales@pharmapac.co.nz





* Our stock jar colours are amber & clear. Stock closure colours are white, blue, gold, green & black. For your own custom coloured closures, a minimum order of 5000 units will apply.







